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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND QORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
There are 49 buildings of historic and/or architectural interest from Ste.
Genevieve's French Settlement period still standing in or near the town;
a list describing them is attached. Of the buildings cited, thirty-one
were probablv built in the eighteenth century, the others before 1825,
Seventeen are of vertical log construction, nincteen of wood or log,
and thirteen of brick or stone. Nine require substantial repair or
restoration, though all but the reconstructed Bolduc House have been
altered in some degree. _
Houses in early Ste. Genevieve were preponderantly one-room or two-room
units, Typical exterior dimensions were 12'x 13', 15' square, and 18'x 19°'.
They usually were of 1lngs placed vertically into the ground, five or six
inches apart. Such construction was called poteaux-en-terre--posts in the
ground. Three houses 50 built are still standing in Ste. Genevieve. Later
houses had rubble stone foundations on which the logs rested~-potcaux-sur-
solle--posts on a sill. The walls were tilted inward a few decgrees, for
unknown reasons. The interstices were filled with bouzillage--a mixture of
clay or mud with twigs, animal hair, straw or limestone gravel.

The rcofs were unusual because of their extremely steep pitch, often
exceeding 70°, which was nccessary to shed rainwater from the thatching.
The roof was formed by massive Norman trusses, pe¢gged in place.

In the early years the houses were patterned after those of Quebec and
Normandy. But oppressive heat led to the construction of galerics, a wide
porch added to all four sides of a house. One of its main functions was
to keep the sun and rain off the whitewashed walls.

Strangely encugh, the poteaux-en-terre technique is known neither in

France or in Canada. It may have been brought up from the Guif Ceast,

where Indian dwellings were built on that plan., Farly Anglo-American

houses in Ste. Genevieve were generally frame with lap siding. Some of

the best-prescrved structures from the period of Ste. Genevieve's prosperity
are listed below:

1. Bolduc House: Located at 123 South Main Street, this one-and-a-half
storxy frame house was probably erected about 1785 by Louis Bolduc,
prosperous lead miner, merchant, and planter. Constructed of poteaux-~
sur-solle (posts on the sill), with bouzillage (clay and grass) wall
Eilling, this restored house is one of the finest and least changed
examples of French Colonial architccture in the United States. The house’
is open to visitors,

2, Jean Baptiste Valle House: Located at the northwest corner of Main and
Market Streets, this cone-and-a-half story frame dwelling was probably
erected about 1785 by Jean Baptiste Valle, the last commandant of the Ste.
Genevieve District. The basic construction is similar to that of the

- neighboring Bolduc House, but the Valle House underwent considerably

(Continucd)
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PECHFIC DATES 1785-1803 BUILDER/ARCHITECT multiple

JATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE -

Ste. Genevicve, with possibly 31 existing 18th century dwellings, is the finest
surviving architectural example of a French Colonial village in the United
States.

HISTORY

The date of the first French settlements in the vicinity of Ste. Genevieve
cannot be determined. The earliest known grants of land were made in 1752,
when 27 inhabitants owned about three miles of Mississippi River frontage.
The original site of settlement, probably in the period 1735-40, was in the
river bottom on the west bank of the Mississippi about three miles below

the present town. Floods, notably one in 1785, caused repeated damage, and
the town was moved gradually between 1785 and 1796 to the present site on
high ground. By the latter year, only a few huts of traders remained at the
old site. In 1772 the town had about 70 houses, one church, and a population
of 691. 1In 1795, at its new location, the inhabitants numbered 839. Ste.
Genevieve--the principal seat of government in the region for many years
after western Louisiana passed from French to Spanish contrxrol in 1762--
thrived under Spanish administration, and by 1800 it had 180 houses and
1,163 inhabitants. In 1803, the Louisiana Territory passed to the United
States and Ste. Genevieve then declined as St. Louis gradually grew in
importance.
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more modification in the mid-19th ce;tury. The house is a private
residence.

3. Vital St. Gemme de Beauvais House: Located at 20 South Main Street, this
frame, clapboarded, one-story house was probably built about 1786. The
oldest half of the drelling is an example of poteaux-en-terre (posts in the
earth) constructicn, and the remainder is built with posts on the sill,
resting on a stone foundation, A massive stone chimney originally divided
the interior into twe equal parts. The present rear wing is modern and the
original hipped rocf and exterior have also been considerably altered.

The house is not open to visitors.

4. fThecphilius Dufour House: Located on the south side of Merchant Street
between Second and Third Streets, this one-story frame house was erected
sometime between 1789 and 1800. The dwelling is of upright log construc-
tion and the exterior is covered with clapboard siding. Recent renovation
revealed three fireplaces in the hugh stone chimney to the rear.

$. Jacques Guibourd House: ILocated on the northwest corner of Fourth and
Merchant Streets, this one-and-a-half story frame house was probably built
about 18G0. The dwelling is of poteaux-sur-solle construction, and has
front and rear galleries. The exterior is clapboarded. The structure is
of particular interest to architectural historians because the rear walls
contained two pairs of nine-lighted casement windows, the only known
original examples of French Colonial fenestration surviving in the upper
Mississippl Valley. The original hipped roof has been considerably altered,
The house is open to visitors,

6. Nicolas Janis House or The Grecn Tree Tavern: Located at 244 014 St.
Marys Road, the structure was probably built sometime between 1800 and 1804.
The one-story frame structure measures 75 by 45 feet and is a transitional
building of poteaux-sur-solle construction that is combined with original
Anglo American roof trusses. The building is open to visitors,

7. §8t. Gemme-Amourcaux House: Icocated on the west side of St. Marys
Road, 1/3 mile south of South Gabouri Street, this one-and-a-half frame
structure was built about 1785. Of potecaux-en-terre construction, it
originally had a steep pitched hipped roof that was covered with thatch.
The original roof was altered, and front and rear galleries, together
with clapboard siding, were added in the early 19th century. The
structure is open to visitors,

(Continued)
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8. Bequette-Ribault House: Located on the west side of St. Marys Road,

4 mile south of South Gabouri Street, this onc-and-a~half story frame farm—
house was built on this site about 1775. Of poteaux-en-terre construction,
the dwelling originally had a hipped roof and galleries on_all four sides.
The end calleries have been removed and the roof remodeled. The house is
not ooven to visitors.

9. Shaw House: Located at the southwest corner of Second and Merchant
Streets, this lk-story frame house was probably built in the 1790's. It

was greatly altered in 1852 using salvage from the wreck of the steamboat

Dr. Franklin II. Each of the siding boards has a beaded edge, and the
hand-hewn cak timbers supporting the ceiling still plainly evidence the marks
of the adze. The house is open to visitors.

10, Francois Valle, Jr. House: Located at 167 South Gabouri Street,
between Second and Main Streets, this greatly altered structure may well
have been the first built on les petites cotes--the little hills above

the Mississippi flood levels. The exterior dates from around 1200, but

the old cedar logs making up the poteaux-sur-solle construction are still
visible beneath loose sideing boards. The building is a private residence.

Market Streets, this is believed to be the first brick house west of the
Mississippi. The handmade brick is laid up in Flemish bond. The structure
retains its original windows, and is open to the public as a restaurant.

{Continuecd)
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BLDG
NO. DATE
L. 1805
2. 1785
3. 1795
4, 1813
5. 1775
6. 1778
7. 1730
8. 1797
9. 1805
0. 1785
11. 1816
12, 1785

o e

STRUCTURES COMPRISING STE. GENEVIEVE
HISTORIC DISTRICT (NUMBER-CODED TO MAP A)

ORIGINAL OWNER

Aubuchon, Antoine
Tonish

Aubuchon, Auguste

Aubuchon,

Augustine, Jr.

Beauvais, Gemien

Beauvalis, Vital St.

Gemme

Bequette~-Ribault

Bernier, Francols
{2 bldgs)

Birke, John

Bogy, Joseph

Belduc, Louis

Brutcher, Sebastian

Caron, Joseph

g Yy e .y, o

ADDRESS

Roberts &
Lalaye

5th &
Washington

4th & Roberts

S. Maln st.
20 S. Main

St. Mary's
Road

B8th & Market
N. 3rd st.
163 Merchant
125 5. Main
229 s§.

Gabouri

Biltmore &
Roberts

CONSTRUCTION

CONDITION
cross~log poor
vertical log; poor
rock foundation
log; rock good
foundation
log & frame excellent
vertical log; excellent
posts-in-the-
ground
vertical log:; poor
posts—in-the-
- ground

both vertical good

log; rock

foundation

rock excellent
frame; rock excellent
foundation

vertical log; excellent
rock foundation

vertical log; good

rock foundation

vertical log; good

rock foundation

(Continued)
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NO. DATE ORIGINAL OWNER ADDRESS CONSTRUCTION CONDITION
i3, 1785 Caron, Louis 483 Roberts vertical log; good
rock foundation
14. 1805 Donohue, John 145 S. 3rd brick poor
15, 1720 Dorlag, Pierre St., Mary's log:; rock good
Road - foundation ‘
Handhewed
timbers
16. 1730 Dufour, Antoine Parfait 2nd & Merchant stone good
11, 1795  pDufour, Theophilius 220 Merchant log; rock - good
foundation
18, 1790 Durand, Francois Chadwell Lane log very poor
{LaSource)
19, 1805 Elliot, Dr. Aaron 8. Main St. frame; rock good
foundation
20, 1805 Fenwick, Dr. Walter 5th & Merchant log; rock good
foundation
21, 1810 Govereau, Etienne 404 LaHaye log & frame; good
Joseph rock foundation
22, 1790 Govereau, Joseph 451 Le Compte vertical log; good
yock foundation
23. 1785 Guibord, Jacques 4th & Merchant vertical log; excellent
rock foundation:
Norman beams
24, 1789 Hubardeau, Simon 4th & stone excellent
Jefferson
25. 1800 Hubardeau Ice House 371 Jefferson stone good
{Continucd)
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NO. DATE CRIGINAL OWNER ADDBESS CONSTRUCTION CONDITION
26. 1790  Janis, Nicolas 244 st. Mary's wvertical log; good
Road rock foundation
27. 1784 Labruyere, Louis Ratte 93 5. Gabouri log and frame very poor
28. 1785 LaHaye, Charles Roberts & vertical log; good
LaPorte rockfoundation
29, 1800 Lalumondiere, Antoine 801 S. Gabouri wvertical log; poor
rock fqundation
30, 1790  LaPorte, Marie Market St. log good
31. 1825 Linn, Senator Lewis F. 223 Merchant log & frame; poor
rock foundation
32, 1803 Millard, Josiah Little Rock stone ~ good
Road
33. 1808 0ld Academy Academy Hill stone poor
34, 1790 013 Brick House 3rd & Market brick excellent
35. 1820 014 Court House NE corner brick good
‘Public Square
36. 1810 0O'Neil, Antoine 150 S. Main log & frame; excellent
rock foundation
& chimney
37. 1809 Parent, Etienne 102 5. Main heavy log frame good,
rock foundation altered
38. 1799  Pepin, Jean Marie, Jr. 4th & Roberts log- excellent
39. 17981 Placet, Michel 246 N. Main handhewved logs, good
peg construc-
tion
40. 1767 Robert, Jean Paul 603 LaHaye Ylog good,
altexed
{Continued)
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41. 1795  Seraphin, Joseph 74 Seraphin $t. vertical leog; good,
‘ rock ~foundation altered
42, 1790  shaw House 2nd & Merchant log good
43, 1770  st. Gemme, Jean Bte. S5t. Mary's vertical log; excellent
(Amaureaux) Road
44, 1798 St. Gemme, Vital Highway 61 stone good
45. 1800 Thomure Ice House Rear-~Library stone good
46, 1811 valle, Felix Odile 2nd & Merchant stone - good
47, 1784 Valle, Francols, Jr. 167 S. Gabouri vertical log; good
rock foundation altered
48, 1785 Valle, Francois, Jr. Gabouri & 2nd stone excellent
49, 1785 Vvalle, Jean Bte. 99 5. Main vertical log; excellent
rock foundation
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(The following text is exerpted from a report prepared hy F. Terry Norris for
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, St. Louis District in July, 1979.)

Although the present town of Ste. Genevieve was established prior to 1785, and

is itself, an historic Tandmark, it was not the first site of the original

French settlement. Records indicate that the oricinal settlement was located
southeast of the present town on a wide alluvial floodplain known today as the

Big Field or la grand champ. This Tocation afforded the towns people easy

access to the navigable waters of the Mississipni Piver as well as close proximity
to large amounts of tillable land. However ponular this site may have heen,
repeated flooding, climaxed by a major inudation in 1785, led residents to

abandon this area in favor of the present day location shortly after the 1785
flood,

Although the general location of the original town is common knowledge in

Ste. Genevieve (random interviews with several Ste. Genevieve residents nlace
the original location approximately 3 miles south of the town, along the
present day river edge), laymen and scholars alike have traditionally believed
the original site to have been destroyed by the meandering channel of the
Mississippi River (Franzwa 1967), This belief is fostered by the well
documented destruction of the original 18th centurv French town of Kaskaskia
in 1881 by floodwaters of the Mississinpi River. 01d Kaskaskia was located
approximately 10.5 kilometers (7 miles) southeast of the nresent town of Ste.
Genevieve, on the alluvial floodplain in close proximity to the Mississippi
River channel, just as 01d Ste. Genevieve is reported to have heen. Further-
more, casual inspection of la qrand champ today reveals no structural evidence
of the former town's presence.

Recent investigations conducted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers - St. Louis
District, in conjunction with ‘the conaressionally authorized ¥askaskia Island
flood protection study, revealed the first documented evidence of 18th century
artifacts being recovered from a la orand champ context. This investigation
identified 2 concentrations of historic debris (anproximate 8 meters in
diameter). These concentrations were thounht at that time to he possihle

house patterns (Linder 1975).

Artifact analysis by two independent historic archaeoloqists would seem to
indicate a Tengthy 18th century occupation at this site. The wide functional
and stylistic range of these artifacts indicates a relatively permanent
occupation. Given the well documented history of territorial conauest in the
| Mississippi River Valley, the oresence of French, Sritish, and nossibly Spanish
| artifacts, coincides with the historic occunations documented at 01d Ste. Genevieve.
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At a minimum, this site covers approximately 15 hectares (38 acres). Mithin
this area, 8, and possible 10 features, have been identified. The artifact
scatter associated with each of these concentrations strongly sungests that
these features represent the remains of 18th century residentual or commercial
structures.

Based on the above referenced archival research and field aralysis, it is the
conclusion of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers - St. Louis District that this
site is in fact an undisturbed portion of the original town of Ste. Genevieve
and in that capacity, represents the only known, relatively undisturbed early
18th century French river town in the Middle Mississippi River Valley. The
archaeological significance of this site cannot be overstated,
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The United States Army Corps of Engineers - St. Louis District has concluded
that this site is an undisturbed portion of the original town of Ste. Genevieve
and in that capacity renresents the only known, relatively undisturbed early
13th century French river town in the Middle Mississippi River Valley. They
conclude that its archaeolonical significance cannot be overstated, and the
Missouri Office of Historic Preservation concurs.
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1975 Linder, Jean R., Survey of the Archaeglocical Tesources Alona the
Existing and Proposed lLevees on Kaskaskia Islard in RandoInh Courty,
I11inois, and Ste. Genevieve County, Missouri. Pepnrt submitted to
the Corps of Enaineers, St. Louis Nistrict, in partial fulfillment
of the provisions of Contract MNo. LMSSD 75-7769

1979 Norris, Terry F., 01d Town - Ste. Genevieve (irca 1723-1785, A
Preliminary Assessment of Significance Submitted to the Corns of
Engineers, St. Louis District

ITEM NUMBER 10 PAGE 1

ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY approx. 360 QUADRANGLE NAME: Kaskaskia, ILL-MO
SCALE: 1:24,000

A tract of land enclosed within the UTM References given above.
UTM REFERENCES:

16 237300 4205320

16 2278C0 4204300

16 236400 4204300
16 236440 4206650

/mmm
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James M. Denny and Michael S. Weichman

Editors

Office of Historic Preservation September 7, 1979
Deparmtnt of Natural Resources 314/751-4096

P.0. Box 176

Jefferson City Missouri 65102
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The boundaries of the Ste. Genevieve Historic District are described by the
red lines on the accompanying map A, labelled "Water Supply and Distribution
System, City of Ste. Genevieve" and dated April, 1969. These lines include
49 buildings of architectural and historic interest, as outlined in the
accompanying description. Of these, 47 are included in the large contiguous
arca in the center of map A. Two buildings, numbered 18 and 44, are ocut-
side the contiguous area, but are nevertheless part of the historic district
due to their related history and architecture and contemporary building
dates.

Beginning at a point about 200 feet due east of Green Tree Tavern in the
middle of South Gabouri Creek, where it bends northwest to parailel St.
Mary's Road; thence S. GO W. along the south curb of St, Mary's Road to a
point opposite the south property line of the Pierre Dorlac House (No. 15);
thence west along that boundary to its intersection with the back property
line; thence in a northwesterly direction aleng the back lines of the
properties fronting on St. Mary's Road and Seraphin Street as far as the
cast side of Fourth Strcet; thence north along Fourth Street to its
intersection with South Gabouri Creek; thence in a westerly direction along
the middle of Scuth Gabouri Creek to its intersection with Ninth and
Market Strecets; thence in a northerly direction along the east side of
Ninth Street to its intecrsection with Jefferson Street:; thence in an easterly
direction along the south side of Jefferson Strect to ist intersection with
Sixth Strect; thence in a northerly direction along the east side of Sixth
Streel., and then along the extension of this line across North Gabouri Creek
to the intersection of North Sixth and Wehner Streets; thence in an east-
northeasterly direction aleng the south side of Wehner Street to a point
opposite the back property line of the Josiah Millard House (32), located
at Little ¥ock Road and Riverview Drive; thence north parallel to Little
Rock Road to include the Josiah Millard House, and cast along its north
property line; thence south along the west curb of Little Rock Road to

its intersectioen with North Gabouri Creek; thence in an east-socutheasterly
direction along the middle of North Gabouri Creek to its conflucnce with
the Mississippl; thence in a southcasterly direction along the west bank of
the River to the mouth of South Gabouri Creek; thence along the center of
the creek to the point of beginning.

The two poncontiguous properties in the Ste. Gencvieve Historic District are:
the Francois Durand House, Chadwell Lane and South Gabouri Crecek (18}, and
the Vital St. Gemme House, approximately % mile southeast of Ste. Genevieve
on U.S. Foute 61 (44} .
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Ste. Genevieve, Missouri vicinity
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